
INTERVIEWEE: Francis Keppel 

INTERVIEHER: David G. McComb 

DATE: April 21, 1969 

M: This is an intervie~v ~'lith Mr. 'Francis Keppel in his office in New York 

City. The date is April 21, 1969, and my name is David McComb. 

Can you briefly give me a sketch of your background, how you 

got into the Office of Education? 

K: I was a graduate of Harvard College Hho returned to the college just 

before the second war as an assistant dean of freshmen. [I] went off 

to the ~var ~vhere I ~vas active in the Har Department's and the Navy 

Department's education info~ation prograns both as a civilian and an 

enlisted man and officer. I returned to Harvard to the faculty of arts 

and sciences as what my father, ~vho was himself an educator, referred 

to as an academic hand)~an, not a scholar, and was appointed dean.of 

the Graduate School of Education at Har.'ard by James B. Conant in '47 

or '48--I've forgotten ~vhich year. And [IJ served as dean of that faculty 

until 1962. 

My original relations \-lith the federal government \-lere probably 

brought up to a point, aside fro::! the usual afvising one does, when 

Mr. Kennedy appointed me to serve on an advisory panel or cormnittee 

on educ.:J.tion after his election anG prior to his assu:nption of office. 

M: You didn't campaign for him thcugh? 

K: Yes, I ca,-npaigned for hin a littl,:;:. I happened to knOH hi::! a little, 

and so I campaigned in a kind of ::!~nor lca£ue way. So I guess he knew 
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my name anyway. His older brother Joe and I were contemporaries 

at Harvard College, and Jack ~vas a younger brother, so I'd known the 

family a little bit. 

The particular advisory committee that I'm referring to on education 

was headed by President Hovde of Purdue and had several members on it. 

We came up with a report that if Mr. Kennedy had adopted, w'ould 

probably have broken the federal governmertt's bank in no time at all. 

Among other things he asked ~s for advice on who the Commissioner of 

Education should be, and we all agreed \vith enthusiasm on Commissioner 

James Alle'l of New York, who \Vas the state man in New York. As a matter 

of fact, I uas sent off to try to persuade Allen to do it. He refused 

at that tim" and I take a certain sardonic pleasure in having devoted 

my attention in the last few months to getting him to do it on behalf 

of the Nixon administration, and he has now accepted. It took eight 

years to accomplish that goal. 

Then I went back to Harvard for a couple of years as dean. Professor 

Sterling i'lcMurrin \Vas appointed Commissioner of Education, Ribicoff 

as Secretary of HEW. Ribicoff decided that he \vould handle all the 

politics on Capitol Hill and McHurrin \vould sit back and think high 

thoughts in the Office of Education. Well, the politics fell apart 

something terrible, and in August or September--I've forgotten no\V--

of 1962 a bill which had been put together with bailing wire for higher 

education got on the floor of the House. It had already passed the 

Senate; in fact, it \Vas coning back from a conference committee. It got 

on the floor of the House and failed on the floor of the House to the 
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great disappointment of the Kennedy White House group, who largely 

blamed the National Education Association for spraying the town 

with telegrams objecting to the bill on the grounds of church and state. 

M: Was this the true reason for the failure of the bill? 

K: I don't think so, alone. It was a bill put together with bailing wire, 

for example, there came back from the conference committee of the 

House and Senate a provision about loans to students and colleges 

which had what struck me as the most unlikely language I've ever heard--

a provision for "non-reimbursable loans." Well, for heaven's sake--

what's a loan! You knmv, that and other factors made it probably a 

matter of doubt with congressmen. Anyway, the bill failed. 

M: What I'm driving at--is that. religious issue a key issue as all the 

books have indicated? 

K: It most certainly is, or (correction) was, at that time absolutely 

central, and is today. It remains, I believe, an important issue. just 

below the level of the political surface. In any case the Kennedy 

administration 'vas just as cross as it could be at the NEA. It, like 

every other human outfit, has to have some goat, and the NEA was the 

goat, and there was good reason to think they had something to do with 

the failure of the bill. By spraying those telegrams around. 

Mr. McMurrin could hardly bear the thought--poor fellow--and 

resigned. He resigned, incidentally, through his congressman, as I 

recall, from Utah, so that Mr. Kennedy read it in the morning paper. 

The story I nmv have to tell you comes from Mac Bundy, who was one of 

the White House aides. The follmving morning they had some kind of 

a meetir.g. And Mr. Kennedy said, "What's all this about this fello'iv 
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And Mac Bundy's response was: '~r. President, that's exactly the 

trouble. You never heard of the fellow!" 

They looked around getting a man willing to take the job, 

because by that time it had a very bad smell to it. And finally, 

I mus t say, my conscience got me, and whe~ I was approached I said 

"yes, 'I with my wife screaming her objections--poor girl. I finally went 

down there. The next year or t~·lO, probably three or four years, are 

probably the very things you want to ask me about, but you asked me how 

I got there, and that's how I got there. 

M: In those early years in the Office of Education, did you have much 

contact with the Vice President, Lyndon Johnson? 

K: Practically none. 

M: Did you know him up to this time? 

K: No. I suppose one ought to be more careful. I suppose I thought I 

knew him in the sense that I'd probably been at some ceremonial or 

other. Oh, yes, I rememb~r He got an honorary degree together up at 

Tufts. And I would have said that the chances of Johnson's knowing my 

name either before or after the Tuft's honorary degree ceremony were 

probably as ten is to one against--in other words, no direct connection. 

11: Then, you ~.,orked to get Kennedy's education bill into law? 

K: Well, it Has more than one bill. It was a complex set of legislation--

I've forgotten. There Here probably tHenty or t~.,enty-five separate parts 

that eventually passed between 1963 and 1966. The Kennedy strategy was 

to put it all into an Omnibus Bill in early 1963. It ~vas obvious that 

the best hope that one could have would be to keep a progrnm before the 
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Congress--I'm talking about 1963 now--and try to keep the lobbyists from 

killing each other, oh, because the higher education fellows were so mad 

at the NEA fellows they wouldn't speak to them. In fact, I can recall 

negotiating a private meeting between Mr. Logan Wilson (a Texan, by 

the way, a former president ['Of the University of Texas] representing 

the higher education interests, and William Carr, who represented the 

National Education Association. These two men [who] had worked with 

each other for probably five or ten years were so cross at each other 

in early 1963 that I personally had to invite them to dinner, and they 

didn't dare turn me down. This was literally the case. 

In any case, the problem was not so much to get the lobbyists to 

agree on supporting anything as to agree on not killing each others 

interests. The first task was to try to get the lobbyists-Catholic, 

NEA, American Council on Education, land grant colleges, and all the 

others (I shouldn't call them lobbyists. It's probably deplorabl~ 

language. Let me refer to them as representatives of education and 

groups) to get them to shut up about things they didn't like and only 

talk about things they did like. So instead of having a whole bunch 

of props and pegs on which the Congress could hang its hat to vote 

against a piece of legislation, all good excuses not to vote for 

education, the idea was to take all the pegs off, if you could, and 

keep the groups, above all, quiet about the things they didn't like. 

So we tried to build that kind of a lobbying situation, the most 

delicate part of it being the relations between the higher education 

world and the elementary, secondary Horld on the one side, and the 

Catholics and everybody else as another cut-across. 
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So what we did was to put up what we called an omnibus bill in 

1963 that had everything in it. The Congress roared with laughter and 

had a lovely time chasing it around, saying, "You don't really mean 

that there are no priorities--between higher education in the schools 

and between books and whatever." 

And we solemnly got up there and said, "Yes, indeed we do, it's 

all one piece, and we won't cut it up for'a minute." 

What happened, practically, was that with Wayne Morse's help it 

was kept as a single bill for quite awhile until finally it looked as 

if there was a chance in the summer of '63 to spring out a higher 

education version. And we sprung it out and got it passed, knowing 

we'd have to go back later on the elementary, secondary side. 

But the NEA, bless its beads, kept its word. Even though the 

higher bill was going through, they didn't shoot it down because of 

anger that it ~"asn't an "EI-High" bill. They kept their word. So 

that when the following year came, after the tragic assassination, the 

higher education fellows kept their word and didn't shoot down the 

lower bill. Do I make any sense to you? 

M: Yes. This would indicate that the groundwork of the education bill 

came in the early part of the Johnson period. 

K: No, it came in the latter part of the Kennedy period. We had bills up 

there that were two- thirds of the \.Jay through except for the "EI-High"--

the ESEA. But except for that, we had the higher education bill through. 

And after the assassination, quite a bunch of those got passed in Deccnber, 

as I remember, in that general spirit of Congress wanting to do things. 
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The one part that hadn't been worked out politically and 

educationally was the Elementary-Secondary Education Act, and that 

was largely put together in the first part of Mr. Johnson's time--

I may say, as a result of a lot of talk over the summer of 1963. But 

it was put together as a piece of legislation. And I can recall 

going in January, I think it was, after the President's election--

I guess maybe it was February--into the Fish Room of the White House 

with a bunch of other fellows who had bills that the President wanted 

to go through. He came in, looking cheerful as can be, and said to 

the half-dozen or dozen people in the room who were responsible 

for various pieces of legislation, (President Johnson said,) ~ "Look, 

we've got to do 

Congress," (by 
this in a hurry. We got in 

however many million votes, 

with this majority 
as a 

he had majority). 

in the 

He said, "It doesn't make any difference what we do. We're going to 

lose them at the rate of about a million a month, and under those  

circumstances, get your subcommittee hearings going. Keppel, 'iV'hen 

are you starting yours?" And Cohen, wh~as handling the medical thing, 

"When are you starting yours?" "Get them through the subcormnittee 

and through the full committee and past the rules committee and on 

the floor of the House just as fast as you can get them going. H 

And then he turned around with that characteristic gesture and said, 

"I want to see a whole bunch of tails of fm'-es on the wall, II whatever 

that phrase was--not foxes. 

M: Coonskins? 

K: Coonskins! III ,.;rant to see this coonskin on the wall," banging away 

with his hands at it, you k-n0l-1--1:V'onderful gesture! "And I want those 

coonskins up there." He pushed like--
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M: Was he right? 

K: Oh, he couldn't have been more right! He was utterly right! And my own 

conclusion was that the most difficult of this legislation to get through 

the Congress was the Elementary-Secondary Education Act, largely because 

of church-state and federal-state relations. 

M: Again, is that religious compromise a key? 

K: Absolutely. 

M: And where did that idea come :from? /.-t1~3 \t '\ 
fO . 

K: Oh, from a bunch of people. Since it worke~~ there are a lot of fathers 

to this bill. The NEA says they thought it up, and the Catholics think 

they thought it up, and I think I thought it up, and everybody thinks 

they thought it up. I don't know. It just got put together. 

Probably the best thing. In any case, the President, I guess, saw that 

there was a chance of its working--he's obviously a very bright man 

on these matters. He didn't particularly play any part in puttin~ 

it together, but once he decided it would work he sure pushed it. 

M: How about the Higher Education Act of '65? 

K: That, as I recall, was sort of a building around and adding to a prior 

one of '63. That one didn't present many problems. There were the 

usual special fights about loans and things. 

But the President couldn't have been more right. The tactic on the 

ElementarY-Secondary Education Bill was a tactic that really was an 

unusual one politically, which was to get one bill as drafted up there 

and get it through the House and past the Senate \vithout a change 

of a single word, so that you wouldn't have the problem of the conference 

committee Abecause lYe I d been burned on conference cor.mi ttees before. 
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Now, that required obviously the wholehearted collaboration of Wayne 

Morse. And this may be an important part of history because of Morse's 

relations with the President on the Vietnam thing. But Wayne MOrse 

was magnificent in this. He fully understood the tactic, realized the 

wisdom of having the bill run through the House (if we could get it 

through) and pass it through the Senate like greased lightning, and 

[snap of the fingers) get it passed. 

M: Did you work with Morse on it? 

K: Oh, did r! Wayne used to be a dean of a school of law up in Oregon. 

And when he didn't think I was doing very well, which was about half 

the time, he'd say, "This is not a hearing, Mr. Commissioner. This is 

not a hearing. This is Morse's seminar, and we will now engage in a 

seminar," which consisted of Hayne telling me how to behave. He was 

good at it though. 

What happened was that that bill (ESEA) , with some amendment?--we 

managed to tack on a couple of Republican amendments just to make it 

smell good--went through the House with a good solid vote on the floor. 

We had to ride the roller over Edith Green, who was having another one 

of her changes of life which seemed to go on forever, and got it through 

the House; and then it went by the Senate ~vith Bobby Kennedy, and he 

said, "Look, I want to change this bill because it doesn't have any way 

of measuring those damned educators like you, Frank, and really we 

ought to have some evaluation in there, and some measurement as to whether 

any good is happening. II 

, 
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M: Was Cohen an expert at legislative liaison? 

K: Yes, very good at it. 

M: He had that reputation. 

K: Oh, he was superb at it. But remember, he was awfully busy on the 

medical stuff and some welfare stuff, so he was glad to have a friend 

around who always called him when it looked as if there were some 

delicate issue. Any my impression was the President thought that Cohen 

was a darned good legislative tactician. 

M: After the assassination of John F. Kennedy, did you have any immediate 

contact with the new President? 

K: Oh, I guess I saw him, yes. He knew who I was by the time he was President 

a couple of months. After all, education was one of his real interests--

genuine interests. This isn't phony. Perfectly genuine interest. 

So we'd be over there--my wife and I--occasionally. Then he got to know 

me altogether too well, but we'll come to that story later. 

M: Did you work on be 1964 task forces? 

K: Yes. For Johnson? 

M: Yes. 

K: For w:.Lbur? Beg your pardon, for Hwnphrey? Yes, I was the chairman, if 

that's the one you mean. No, '64--

M: '64 is the--

K: Oh, yes, we put together the fanciest thing you ever saw with 

White House conferences, and John Gardner was chairman of that. That's 
I. 4 ~:rtC 1 k 50 r: p. !::':t~ '1'\ , 

how Gtfi,Sfffi§!f9&~ Oh, my, we had a big do! Las of folks. 

M: And then you were also on that '65 task force--education. 
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K: Oh, yes, I helped to put them together, I guess. They've been rather exaggerated 

in their influence, if I may be frank about it. 

M: Good. Let me ask you that. 

K: We put together task forces. One, there was a big public meeting--a 

White House Conference on Education. Everybody and his brother came 

and made speeches and things. And it didn't do any harm. I don't think 

it did much good, but it got a lot of publicity. 

Then we had some secret task forces before the campaign, as I 

remember, of '64--in the summer of '64, I think--and got Gardner in as 

chairman. I was sort of party to putting them together, and I met 

with them. They wrote reports. The most useful part of that report was the idea that eventually turned up in the ESEA bill of '65 as Title 3. 
~ 

It didn't have anything to say about the political combination that made up ESEA--call it, 

if you want to be a little more sardonic, the ''House of Cards." That was 

a political "House of Cards." The task force--it was useless for, that. 

I don't mean useless, it wasn't what it was asked to do. It was much 

more on the substantive content of the bill, and it was useful there--

not essential, but useful. 

M: I was wondering whether the task force as such was a worthwhile innovation. 

K: Yes. I don't have any questions that it was worthwhile. I think it's a 

4 1\ 
mistake to conclude that it ,vas responsible fo~ the substantive or the 

political nature of those bills because I don't think it was. But ~ 

was useful in changing direction and putting emphasis on things. 

M: Now, meamlhile, while you're Horking on--

K: I can give you an example, excuse me--

M: Go ahead. 
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K: One of the parts of the elementary-secondary education bill was Title 5, 

a title which had to do with strengthening the state departments of 
~ 

education. A good many of the people on the task force., whose names 

I don't remember, felt that the state departments of education were the 

feeblest bunch of second-rate~ or fifth-rate, educators who combined 

educational incompetence with bureaucratic Urnnovability. And they were 

dead against Title 5. One of the members of the task force was Jim 

Allen, my favorite character.~ Every time I saw a place--1 tried to get 

him to be Commissioner of Education or put him on a task force or 

something. Now, thank God, he's down there doing the education stuff. 

Jim and I--1 guess we rounded up a couple of other folks--we had 

a vote on that one, I remember, because I was the one who was pushing 

for Title 5. Having sat on that educational bureaucracy in Washington 

the last thing in the world I wanted was all those 25,000 schools 

districts coming in with plans with my bureaucrats deciding whether to 

approve them or not. I wanted that stuff done out in the states. And 

to make it work in the states, you have to improve the state departments 

in making grants. That all seemed very clear to me, but it didn't seem 

in the least clear to the other fellows on the commission. I think 

Allen and I ,von the vote by one vote or something. In other words, 

they had a vote on it, a test of opinion, and about half of them 

were "agin" it, and half of us were "fur" it. Frankly, I wouldn't have 

paid any attention whether three-quarters of them were rragiri.~· it. I'd 

have kept on arguing for it and probably have gotten it by anyway. 

M: Incidentally, how much tine did you spend on the Hill? Did you spend 

50 per cent of your time up there? 
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K: I spent 60 per cent of my time thinking about it, at least--maybe 

70 per cent thinking about the bills. As to how much time up there, I 

don't know. It just seemed to me I lived up there. 

M: What about the reorganization of the Office of Education? This was going 

on at the same time, wasn't ft? 

K: No. It was not. The book, to which I made reference earlier in our 

private conversatior:,of Stephen Bailey's, -called ESEA, The Office 

of Education Administers the~Law, gives an account which I think is 

reasonably accurate of what went on. I think in response to your 

specific question I should say this: that when I arrived as 

Commissioner of Education in December of 1962, I discovered that my 

predecessor Mr. McNurrin had had a reorganization of the place six or 

eight months before. What it effectively did was to shuffle some people 

around, but didn't ~ally make any basic changes. But it had disrupted a 

lot of things. I couldn't see the slightest sense to reorganizing the 
('I..'C 

Office of Education from inside until ~ knew what its job was to be 

Now the people who defined the job were the President of the 

United States and the Congress. Now, if the job was to do fourteen 

things, you'd reorganize it one \vay; it the job ~vas to do thirty-two 

other things, you'd organize it some other way. To have a reorganization 
-yet" 1" <til )?;7-.Jh~n-

immediately following a recent 1!:@#§l!5dUZl without knmving what the 

mission was struck me as the nost arrant nonsense. So that we waited 

until about }!arch or so--February, March, April, I've forgotten, it ivas 

'65--at which time I had gotten in a nei-! deputy who, by the \vay, ca tJ)J!> 

one of my major troubles i-lith Johnson. And at that point it looked to 

me reasonably clear--the outlines, the major structure of the eleP.1Dntary 
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and secondary education act, and it also looked as if we'd get it passed 

in Congress--
we ou-y 

So by that time ,aD could predict .... mission. 

At that time we went through a process described in the Bailey 

book of getting a totally outside group, outside of the Office of 

Education obviously, but also' outside HEl-l, headed by a man called 

Dwight Ink from the Atomic Energy Commission. We got the President 

to appoint him so that there wouldn't be any horsing around and 

reorganized the whole blinking thing in sixty days, because the basic 

change was a fundamental change of mission in which the Office of 

Education ceased being a kind of faculty of education spewing reports 

on topics like a leaky boiler, into a large operating government 

program with three or four billion dollars. Well, that's a Copernican 

change! And therefore we felt, with it clear what our mission was, then 

was the time to reorganize. We did it. Historians will have to say 

whether it was not well done. Don't misunderstand me, I know it 

wasn't well done, but the historians are going to have to say some time 

whether it was hacked up so badly that it should have been done some 

other way. In any rate my conclusion was it had to be done, done hard, 

done fast, because of the new mission. 

M: It's seemingly difficult to change a bureau. 

K: You're a professor of history. Ivould you care to consider the changes 

in your department? [laughter] 

H: Very difficult. 

K: So we just went in with a meat axe. 

M: Did it work? 

K: I'll turn to the historian. Sorry, I'm the wrong judge. I had a lot of 
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c};fJert? lIet:. 

personnel trouble which is often the key to this. en • \/,hat the devilAoo 

different structures make? If you've got the right fellows, you could 

make it work out of a phone booth. And we didn't really get the right 

fellows. 

M: Was there difficulty in the field--in the states and the regions? 

K: That was one of the major difficulties. 

M: Rather than, say, in Washington? 

K: Oh, a little bit of both, I guess. I don't know how one measures 

this, to tell you the truth. I don't know what standard one uses. 

We got the money out. None of the people I appointed with one 

possible exception were crooks. The money didn't stick to people's 

fingers. Some things got done, money got spent. ~lether the 

obvious fact that these various bills scarcely reformed American 

education in three 

a question in part 

years is to be regarded as a failure of the act is 

~ what you think 8-per cent leverage means on . 

a huge enterprise, and that's about the leverage. About 8-per cent 

federal money was going into primary and secondary schools. Well, 

that's not an awfully long crowbar, and there are an awfully lot of 

big Boulders around. So I don't know how you measure it. I leave 

that to you fellows. 

M: Is there any significance in the timing of this change? Why should it 

come in the 1960s? 

K: ~.;rell, I'll give you my anS'iver 'i.,hich has a sardonic note about it. I'll 

speak to the Elementary-Secondary Education Act because that had the 

most complex political and social factors to it. I very r.1Uch doubt ~ 

• that act 'iVould have passed unless there Here four nost unlikely men 

I 
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who had acted and played their part in the preceding decades. One 

of them was Senator Robert Taft who had a change of mind that said to 

him that it would be possible for the federal government to engage 

in education without automatically bringing the decline and fall of 

the American society. He had'concluded that some federal participation 

was necessary, and with him went some of the more conservative--this 

was back in the '50's. 

The second was Pope John who had suggested that an ecumenical move-

ment was possible within the context of the Catholic Church, and released 

the willingness to negotiate on the part of the many young monsignors 

who We ~ essential to the whole process and with whom I worked quite 

intim •. ~ly. 

Third was Barry Goldwater who got the Republican nomination and 

had the net effect of increasing the Democrats in the House by a factor 

of seventy, thereby giving a substantial, and for the first six mpnths, 

disciplined majority. 

And fourth was, really, the combination of Lyndon Johnson and Jack 

Kennedy who just kept the pressure on. 

Then fifth, I think I should in candor add, Khrushchev, who 

had managed in the late '50's through the Sputnik business to make 
we'd 

the American people think that education was really important, and ~ 

better do something about it. 

Now if you can think of a more unlikely combination to pass a bill, 

I'd like your nominees. 

M: Very good. To shift the topic a little bit and concentrate on Lyndon 

Johnson, you got some publicity and, :;:om what the neo;vspapers say and other 

corrnnentators, got into some trouble with the I.;hite House. 

I 
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K: Sure, I did. 

M: Over Chicago. 

K: Yes. 

M: And Richard Daley. 

K: Yes. 

M: What I need to know is, what is fact and what is fiction? 

K: I'll give you what I can, but obviously I hope that you'll be asking 

other people on this. 

M: Sure. 

K: Because this is one of these classic cases where a man's vanity really 

interferes with his memory, I imagine. 

M: We need your side, too. 

K: Sure. I think to put in into context I should say this: that the 

passage of the Civil Rights Act in the summer of 1964 was a very 

important factor because one of the major provisions of the Act, Title 6, 

involved active role of the federal executive in the breaking up of 

the separate black and white school systems in the South. The president 

was all for it. And he damned near drove me crazy during--not so much 

the summer of '64, but the summer of '65 because he wanted--let me 

start again. We had 5,000, I think it was, school districts in the 

South that were in effect black and white schools. And we went through 

all sorts of difficulties, the President played no part in this 

personally, in trying to get the damned executive branch to 
he}r.J +0 

to proceed. I finally~jamssd through some what were called 

agree on how . 
On ck~''Jye'ta-t f~ 

guidelinef-

that was the most the justice people would let me do--because the fellows 

down South were saying, "Well, for God's sake, if you're telling us to do 
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something, tell us what II You can't just sit 

there in Washington saying, "Reform, reform, reform." They 
W.)"'~ 
.... to know just what the rules are. 

-19-

Well, we put through the gUidelines. And then during the summer :f 19b~ 
I had a whole crew of fellows trying to talk these Southern school 

districts into changing. They'd put up a plan--we wouldn't like it, 

and we'd put it back. I used to have to go over with Joe Califano 

about every three days, just as if you were reporting on your 

hunting trip, saying, ''We've nm'l got 3,200 of them, II and, ''We 've 

now got 3,800 of them." We finally got down to a hundred of them 

or something, and the President would wander in and out saying, "Get 

'em! Get 'em! Get the last ones!" We were going absolutely nuts. 

But it was a kind of political game. He wanted them all in the bag. 

you know, by September. And we got all but a couple hundred of them 

in the bag. By that time I was ready for a nervous breakdown, because 

they'd keep wanting me and my assistants to come in with score cards. 

Somewhere there in the records in Washington you'll find a daily 

score card of how many Southern school districts came into the bag 

with signed agreements in July, August, September; and each one of them 
s~aH5 

has got a drop of my"blood on it some,mere. 

Well, that ,vas part of the problem. But, remember, this was all 

southern. And the simple fact of the case was that some of those 

northern school districts ,'lere practicing discrimination by subvisible 

means. 

Point number t\VO--

M: Is it fair to say this is a national problem? 
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K: Oh, sure it's a national problem, but it's a lot harder to catch the boys 

up north, because down south they said, "Sure, we've got black schools 

and white schools. What are you fellows talking about! We treat them 

all equally." 

And we say, "Well, fine, hlt that "isn I t what the Supreme Court 

said, and that isn't what the civil Rights Act said." So you had a 

different kind of argument 't-lith the South and the North, and we 

consciously chose to go into'the South first. 

M: Is it fair to say that the problem in the 1{est and the North and the 

East, for that matter, was more subtle then? 

K: Yes, not only more subtle, more difficult, and in all candor, much more 

of a public policy problem to handle--much more! 

M: But the underlying problem is still there? 

K: Yes, but not quite defined the same way. Anyway, my secretary at that 

time was Mr. Celebrezze whose enthusiasm for the Civil Rights Act, 

could be contained in a thimble. That's not fair. He like the act, 

but he sure as hell didn't want to get into polllical trouble with it so 

this came on the Commissioner's--. And I had pushed--here I will take 

some credit, if I may--I had pushed theOffice of Education from being 

a southern-oriented bureaucracy into a leader in desegregation within 

HEW. 1-le were well ahead of the Public Health Service and the other 

services. We were the sort of front-runners. 

M: Your motive in this is--

K: I believed in it, it's as simple as that. 

M: That for good education, you have to have integration. 
5cft1e "f 

K: Yes. Sorry, I just believe in it. ,J: ystaff Has resisting me every turn 

{. 
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of the wheel, pretty much. Every time we'd do this, they'd say, '~ow 

the hell can you put this into an act!" It's a question of 

priorities, and it struck me as the top priority. 

That was one factor. The second factor--I think I mentioned to 

you earlier in the course of 'this discussion that it looked to me as if we'd 

have to reorganize this place, this Office of Education, pretty 

drastically once we got the major bills through. And about six months 

before I had started looking' for a deputy. I had a nice fellow as 

deputy, but he wasn't going to do anything--a man called Wayne Reed, 

the nicest fellow that ever lived who was deputy commissioner, former 

commissioner in one of the border states, not an activist in any way. 

It was clear that he couldn't possibly preside over the radical changes 

that would be necessary if you reorganized the place and turned it from 

a report-writing outfit into a big-program outfit. So I was looking 

around for a deputy, and I consulted John Macy, who was the President's 

adviser on these matters, and John Gardner, and lots of others. We 

settled on a fellow called Henry Loomis, who was the director of the 

Voice of America. A man who had very wide experience in the defense 

department, in the state department; he had been the staff man to set 

up the President's Scientific Advisory Committee back in the Eisenhower 

days; he was a career civil servant ~.;rho regarded himself as such. 
S(;.t we.. 

And he turned me daim once--or ,vas it t,.;rice! all finallYl\got to him. 

And he accepted. 

As he left the Vdce of America, there was a party for him--you know, 

a nice friendly little thing Hith o.bout 3,000 people, or whatever it is. 

And Henry rather uTl,>lisely decided that this ,>las the moment for him to make 
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his "Washington's farewell address," not an address--an address [pronounced 

a'dres]. In it he said that the whole key to the Voice of America was 

that it described what was going on to the people abroad about the 

United States as honestly as it could. It was the voice of America, 

not thelOice of the administration. This happened to come at a time 

when there was some fuss going on with the White House, and this was 

written up by Mary McGrogry, who was a columnist in the local press. 

Mary, I guess, was there--I aon't know. Anyway, she wrote it up, the 

implication being quite clear that Mr. Eisenhower was all clear in his 

mind that the Voice of America was the voice of America; Mr. Kennedy 

was all clear in his mind. And Mr. Loomis quoted them both, but somehow 

he didn't quote Mr. Johnson. 

Well, that got into the afternoon press, and you know what hit the 

fan! I was, I remember, one evening in my house in Georgetown--I was 

in the middle of a conversation with a governor or somebody of one of 

the Southern states who was yelling at me about changing the school 

system. And I had a couple of assistant secretaries around, two lawyers, 

and my poor wife handing out coffee. And all of the sudden in the midst 

of the phone call, an operator cut in and said, "Mr. Keppel?" 

"Yes?" 

"The President wants to speak to you." Right in the middle of the 

phone call. That governor got off the line so fast you couldn't believe 

it, and so did all the other people in my shop. 

And then the President got on and gave me unshirted hell about 

appointing this wretched fellm.; Loomis. He said, If He 's impossible, he's 

not loyal, he's dreadful. Get rid of him. If 

, 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



-23-

He had already talked to Tony Celebrezze who managed to get the 

phone call transferred to me just as fast as possible. I explained 

that I had consulted everybody and his brother--Macy, and everybody 

else--and everybody thought he was the greatest man in the world 

around. That didn't make any difference to the president. He was 

just mad--plenty mad! And I obviously had to stand up to him. Hell, 

I had just appointed the fellow and announced it, and you just don't 

give in on that one, or else' I'd have resigned. He knew it. 

So every time thereafter when he saw me--all through this business 

later in the summer of '65 and '66, every time herd see me, he'd say, 

"You firJ that fellow yet?" [laughter1 He got him, by the way. I 

resigned partly because of this. I was tired of protecting this poor 

devil, and I resigned later in '66 and Loomis left in no time. 

So that was all part of the story. When it finally got to Chicago, 

where I probably made a mistake in being clumsy. I'll give you tpe back-

ground. The President never mentioned Loomis in that. The President's 

a decent fellow, and he wouldn't have raised it then, but he'd 

obviously lost confidence in me. It was time for me to get out, and 

I could sense it. So "get out before they fire you." 

M: Then what happened in Chicago? 

K: What happened in Chicago was that ~ve' d had some complaints from what 

seemed like a very responsible civil rights group that there ~vas, in fact, 

what looked like, if not formal, at any rate effective action on the 

school board which maintained separate or, at least, encouraged separate 

kind of schools. And that the actions of the school board, particularly 

the superintendent, Here in effcc t, (they argued, with legal arguments ,) 

not legal under Title 6. 
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At about the same time, and it r s important to recall this, 

the Congress was getting close to passing th~ appropriations for 

Title 1 of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act. The Office 

of Education had been wandering around in the states and in the cities 

saying, '~ey, get ready. We don't know exactly how much money 

you'll get, but you'll get something. It looks like in this range. Now 

get your plans up there, because under the act the state has to approve . 
the plans of the local schoo'1 district," in this case, the city of 

Chicagoo So there was a plan up there in the State of Illinois, the 

state superintendent being a fellow called Ray Page. And Page's 

job as commissioner, or state superintendent, was to review the plan 

of the city and to see whether that plan for expenditure of Title I 

money was proper under tt.e terms of the Elementary-Secondary Education 

Act, but also under the terms by definition of the Civil Rights Act. 

The information that came to me was that Ben Willis, the 

superintendent of schools, ~vas taking Title I money and not putting it 

where it was most needed in the slums and the poor parts of Chicago, 

but spreading it as if it were general aid. I frankly didn't trust 

Brother Page out of sight, because I didn't think he ~vould carry out the 

law if he could avoid it, because it was easier for him politically 

to spread the money than it Has to focus it. 

This then, to my mind was a very important question that 

affected the administration (and I probably exaggerated it in my mind) 

of the funda~ental purposes of Elementary Secondary Education Title 1, 

which was to put money behind the poor kids. So I sent a letter off 

to Page and another one to Willis, saying "I want this s lowed up. I don't 
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want any money handed out from the state until I'm satisfied." 

Well, that's when everything happened. Mayor Daley got mad. 

Page, of course, ducked, issued a statement saying I was a czar or 

some sort--you know, the normal thing to do. 

And then--this the Presitlent told me himself, which amused me--

the President was at about that time going up to New York to see the 

Pope who had come in as a part of the U.N~, and he had the suite up 

there, I suppose, in the Waldorf or something. And Daley was so mad that 

he came into town, or was in town in New York, and demanded to see the 

President on this--just sputtering! Because apparently Sarge Shriver 

had done something that annoyed him three days before, and somebody 

else in the government had annoyed him. And here was this little 

character-- I had had a fight with Daley about something else before, 

by the way--here was this little character down in the Office of 

Education taking money away from him! So he demanded to see the 

President, and he sputtered so loud that the President turned to me 

and said, "Do you know he kept me waiting ten minutes for the Pope." 

[laughter] He couldn't turn him off. .. + 
b~ ... i<: f2:, l.Ul <j h. '''j e 'YY 

Well, the President came aa and called in Cohen and said, "Fix 

it." He didn't say it quite as bluntly as that, but pretty nearly. 

He said, "Look, this is a ridiculous situation," and furthermore, now 

that I look back on it, it does seem funny. He said, "Lady Bird 
(oY! the Hfll) 

has got her beautification bill up there X Now, we can't mess up the 

beautification bill in Congress just on account of this little mess, 

so fix it." So the rug was kind of pulled out from under me. 

M: Which left you--? 
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K: 
W.l <~_.,..~e!i.lceJ 

I was hopeless, I "'*"" very soon. Oh, they'd made me an assistant 

secretary for some reason--I've forgotten--and I just stayed on as 

assistant secretary at Gardner's request and spent most of my time 

trying to keep out of the way of my successor Mr. Howe. In effect, 

I was fired. 

But I think there were several factors in there, one of which 

was Loomis; one of which was the fact that I had pretty well used up 

whatever value I had--I was 'the chief SOB with the Southernerso And 

then you get to be a chief SOB with the Northern Democrats in one city! 

Come on--you're useless! Get out! I think that's as honest a story 

as I can tell. 

M: Let me finish this up. It's almost time for you to leave. Let me 

finish up by asking you a few questions about Lyndon Johnson as a 

president. Could you get decisions out of him? 

K: Oh, sure. He had a good staff too. 

M: He had a good staff? 

K: Yes. 

M: You could work with them? 

K: Yes. Califano, Doug Cater. They ~.;ere an able bunch. 

M: Could you reach the President when you needed to get an idea through to 

him? 

K: If I had to, but in his case I didn't do it. I knew Kennedy personally. 

I had to go up to Kennedy once or twice and say, "Sorry, I've got to 

turn to you to do something or other. II But I didn't do that ;.;rith 

Johnson, didn't have to. I thought his staff was excellent, he was 

decisive. I didn't always agree with him. Wait a minute, I withdraw 
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that. He [had] a singularly unpleasant little fellow from Texas who 

sort of sat in the outer office--I've forgotten his name, he made him 

postmaster general. 

M: Marvin Watson. 

K: Watson. Yes, I thought he was a "glupp," and we had to fight him 

a couple of times. But Cater, Califano--while I was down there--

Larry O'Brien, Manatos--

M: Moyers? 

K: Bill Moyers. I thought they were excellent. It was just that "glupp" 

I didn't like. 

M: Was Johnson the political expert that he has the reputation for being? 

K: I always thought that was somewhat exaggerated. He knew the mood of the 

Senate while he was there--I never thought he was that good on the House, 

frankly. But he knew the machinery of the Congress. He knew how to 

play it. Boy, he was good at that! I never was impressed with his 

real political shrewdness on the substance of something as much as I 

was with his sense of "get it done, get it done fast, or don't try 

it now." That kind of thing I thought he was awfully good at. 

M: Do you have any major faults \-lith the President? 

K: Vanity. I went out on that ghastly trip when he "las out to Honolulu 

when he decided he \-lould turn the Great Society towork on South Viet-

nam. It was a horrible trip. And I later vent on out and stayed with 
W'l~ 

Cabot dl.dn't 
A 

Cabot Lodge, who was our amb_assador in Saigon at the time. 

have anything to 
aj-kr k£-.,." t'.-- ~ 

doA-his wife ,.;as away--and he didn f t have anything to 

do much really except talk to his guest. And he talked to me at some 

length about the President as a man, because Hhat Cabot really was, was a 

I 
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courtier, and he was trying to figure out how to get through to the 

old man so the old man would listen. So he'd spend most of the evening 

carefully drafting up the document which, by the Hay, Hent to the 

old man, the President, with no copy to Rusk, I discovered. So the 

President would pullout this thing of Cabot Lodge's and hand it 

around all over the town, and then poor~ Rusk would hear about it 

later in the afternoon somewhere. Anyway, -- '," ~ --' ~ ,p;/- he obviously 

was thinking almost the way a courtier does about Louis XIV. I can 

remember, he said, "One of the things I have to do, being a Boston 

Brahman is to guarantee some vulgarities in it somewhere, so that that'll 

surely catch his eye." He'd quote the soldiers, verbatim occasionally. 

And he gave a description of Johnson that struck me as really rather 

accurate. He said: "The great problem is that this fellow is outsize, 

oversize; he's bigger than life, so his virtues seem huge and his 

vices seem like monstrous warts, almost goiters. It's because all 

you can do is you photograph him at a particular angle at a 

particular time, and whatever it is you're seeing is all outsize." 

I thought it w'as rather a good description. And that's what Cabot 

Lodge was doing--he was a courtier writing documents to this outsize man. 

M: And from your point of view, any virtues? 

K: Yes. Enormous energy, absolutely determined to help these poor kids. 

There \vasn' t a doubt in my mind that he "lvas genuine about that. He 

believed,as far as I could see, every minute of it, and herd get all 

sentimental about it. 
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in viola ~ion 0 f the 19:5 '* Supreme Court decision. 
The withholding in Chicago did not relat3 to thase 
guideli~331 bu: to'a complaint filed by Chicago 
civil right:3 group3 alleging discrimination oth:;!r 
than the maintenance or an officially segrsgatad dual 
9chool sy;]tern. 

One of the problems with the with~olding action 
was that tha icd:;!t'al gov'3rnment '1'1..3.3 unclear as to 
tha polic!as for dealing with such allegationa of 
discrimination other than official segragation. 
Thera was, for in3tance, considerable dabata ana dis-
cussion ar.~ng the different fedaral officials 
responsible for f3deral policy aa to wheth<ar 'tda :.C~ctolt 
seqr3gation and various othar conditions and p~actic33 
of northsrn school diatricto should bs cove rod by 
the fu."'ld withholding requiremant3. 

Evan more L~portant, the procedural policies 
und~r which the funds wer.:a withheld wero unaettl;)'d at 
~~a time. Title VI of the Civil Rightg Act required 
elaborate notice and heari~g proc~dure3 bafora funaa 
could be withhald. The gover~~ent had adoptad a 
policy of "ds£arringll grants of new fund3 to any 
achool district ilhich failed to provide an assurance 
that i'e would abide by tha provisions of the Civil 
Right~ Act. A further policy had bsen approved which 
p~rrnitted the Office of Education to defer tha gr~nting 
of n:3W fund!3 to ::Ichool di:3trict:3 t."ihich naintain3d 
dual :::lchool aystema until tll~Y filed a plan to dG3,agrsqata 
thsir ::lehocla. 

Nona of thas9 policies would have permitted the 
holding l1? of the funda to Chicago. Thoga funds w~r9 
def~r=~d u~der a rno=e controYcr3ial policy of th3 
D~partl':la~t of ihalth, Zduc~tion and Welfare which was 
in - dizputc at the ti:ne 1:.1:.a fUnc.a t.:,1~rG held up. 'J:hi~ 
policJ c311~d fo~ th8 deferral of grants to all 
a~ancie3 agai~3t ~hich com~laint3 h~d b39tl lodgad, un-
1e33 the com~13int had al:3adv besn clsarsd UD. T~i~ 
!,la3 a polic~/ to \'/hic!1 Co:r.misslon::lr !-:e9Psl an£ the O:':ficoa 
oE Education school desegregation progral\ objact~dt' 
but. • ... hich r~::l'l:'ned in full fore:: .:!nd effect U~ .ll.."ltil 
just bgfora t~a Chicago withholding took ?lac~. The 
nany SariOll) ~robl~n3 with this depart~e~t3l Dolicy 
1..ad -i,,"'t ~ . ~:;"d tl..", D" '-"'0' .'- .... :~no,.. ... 4j~ .... j .. "'"!1"'n ,~ oJ -'. ..auo,._ -••. _ "'?ilr-c ...... nt: _0 _ I:!- !.",_. '-'_ _ C .J-_ 
the r8pcrt ~a9 re=~!v2d (which later ~roved to ~9 
~rro~2oud) th~~ th8 St~t8 CC~~is9io~2r of Sducatiu~ 
of Illi~oi8 w~a ~~ou~ to approva $32 ~illion d~ll~r3 
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Mr. Joe B. Fr~ntz :!a.!:ch :'::0, 1972 

of Title! funda for th3 city of Chicago. A 
hasty comprorni:Jo of t:'l3 dispute within tha D~:?artm9nt 
re3ult~d in an agrsament to hold up the Title I 
funda until 3uch time ~3 the compl~int ~ould ba 
looked into on an intensive basis. So i3r ~! the 
official r~ason, then, for withholding the fun~9 is 
c~ncarn9d, tha uncert~inty of tha federal government's 
pcsi tion can pe=haps best be Emampliiiod by the 
language of ·the withholding lettar i taalf: "prclini11.J.ry 
invs3tigation of cartain co~~laint3 indicates probable 
non-cornplianc~ with th~ Aot and Regulation, and brings 
into eeriOU9 que9tio~ th~ aS8urance of complinnca 
made by the Chicago school authorities ••• " 
Co~~issionar ~eppel was Qlso concerned by report3 
that Chicago intended to use the new federal ~onay in 
waY:3 which would discredit the net" Title I program. 

The last specific inaccuracy in The Ti~e9 article 
conc~rn3 the identity of Wilbur Cohen, listea in ~,a 
article as having "hald several positions in the 
Administration including that of S~cretary of H3.3:lth, 
E:ducation and Welfare. II Hhile !-lr. Cohan beca..-na 
S~cretary la.ter, he ~aB not holding that POgt wh3n 
he wa3 sent to Chicago "to straighten out the mess" 
as impliad in tha article. At that time he ~';as Under 
Secretary, and so far as I }mo~1 did not hold any 
.other positions in the A~~iniatr~tion. 

So much fo= the facts. As for interpretation of 
the incident, unlike m~ny other civil rights advoc:ltalJ 
I do not consider the reversal of the withholding 
action so much an e~u\mple of unwarra.ntsd po:i~~ic:ll 
interferanc3 by Mayor :al~y and Pra9iC~nt John30n as 
an exa.-rnple of the danger3 of taking at=cng governl'nsntal 
action in a politically sensitive area like civil 
rights fr~~ a position of procedural ~nd sUbstantive 
weakna33. A~ head of the Office of Education civil 
rights enforccrr.snt prosram during this paried I can 
uttsat to m.:my Gi tU-ltions in ~hich Pr~::3idcm:: J·:Jhnson 
was under considerably stronger and mora pBrni8t~nt 
political prassura3 to undercut our entorccmant ~fiorts 
and in t-ihich ha diaplayed ad!:li:rabla backbon3 in 
resisting th3m. Th-a prcssurea und.er ,·/hich ",;;3 o]crat.sd 
daily during that p~riod were ve.ry l3irnilar to ·t.~oss 
describad by .:l' later ,head of tha prog=n.m, Leon ~2iJ.notta, 
in his book Bring Us Together (Lippincott, 1971). The -_~  

:nain di£fzrence b';t.~men 'cne t',';o pariod:) Wd.S th:l t 
during Leon P~n3tt3la tenu=e President Ni~on S2s~a 
regula~ly to have nucc~-:toed to the3e ~oli tical ".:'·333\.1::213 
wharea~ President John30n generally ap~aking S~v~ 
atrong sUP:SJOrt ::0 ·:ha e:l:':orc;::::i9nt p:,:,·ogr.:1.t:l i..L~d 92:.cr:lit-::'3d 
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us to m~ke enforczment judgements without l=0lit:'::ttl 
intarisranc9. In th3 caae of Chicago the pressc~3 
applied by out:agsd Chicago ?olitical officials 
brought about a reverzal of the fedaral action bacausa 
tha fedaral gover~~ant it~alf was in contusion as to 
why it \>laa ui thholding t:he fund3 .and as to the 
procadurolil under .... hich the funds were witlu~eld. 

For those wishing to look into the Chicago 
incident fu~ther, the moat accurate tre~tment of 
'tlhien ! a.11\ aware is contained in Th~ ReoonDtruct~on 
of Southarn GG.l.lcation by Prof. Gary oriield (Hiley,' 
196~). ~n proi. Ortield'a long and detailed cr.~pt3r 
on the Chicago incident the only inaccuracisa of 
which I am aware are as follows: 

Al though c;:edi ting Co::-.missioner Keppal \>11 th 
sensitivity "to the volatility and complexity of. 
the northern situation~ (pag~ 171), the chapter gives 
the irnpreaaion that Co~miB3ioner Keppel was gen3rally 
insensitive to the political COn3eQUanc9B of c~=crral 
in Chicago. E;ccept - perhaps for not being prep::l.red 
for th~ full ferocity of th~ reaction, thia jud~~msnt 
is generally speaking not. true. The Commi5sionor'~ 
awareneSil of tha political problems W3re a major 
reason for his objection to the use of the deferral 
procedure for canes like Chicago. Th~ Commisaioner's 
sensitivity ... .".aa also \vhat caused him to call th'J 
White Hou:la, outside of channels, to alert them .;0 
tha fact that th~ deferral letter ~1as being r;ent. 
(It is unfair, however, to blame th3 White i-iou33~dde 
to who:n he spoke for not alerting the President  
(Fage 197), since thic last minute c<111 tot:~_::~ 
White !-!OU:3S was hardly a substitute for a kind. of 
intan3ive top level conaultations and policy r~uolutions 
that 3hould have been undertaken by ~lC Department 
beiore any tvi thholding action was taken). 

Prof.. Orficld 5~ggSSts tr.at the controV3~Gy 
over provic'!il'lg desegregation funds to th2 t;~::th l:,nder 
Title XV of the Ch'il R:'gn'c.a riot was eaai9J:' and less 
politicall~! difficult than the decision co illveat:!.g='t te 
northarn citiGs. Thi.:J gives a fales impreasir;'. 
Although L~a O=fico of Education favored g=un~~~J 
fund3 for northarn aegr~gntion problema under ~ltle IV, 
thera was a genuine iegal a~d political problem because 
of the language of T:!. tla IV and the stro,ng co;',:-'~)I3-
aion~l 3entinant egainat 3p~nding any mOh2Y f~~ ~u3icg. 
Ther~ wa~ no oi~ilar diffi=ultv with t~3 idea of 
inve~ti03tinq no=thern 3ituati~n~ under Titla VI. Th3 
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problem waa net with inv90tigation, but ~i~h the 
policies ucd2r which funds might be withheld or 
deferred. Co=ia8icn~r I,ep~')el \l.lS not ~:llt!ctant to 
initi~to inve3tigatio~~ in tte March (~~ga l7l), 
but ~,.as very aensitlvc to any act.ions 1":0 derer or 
withhold funds until f8daral pclicie~ ~3re clear. 

Prof. Orfield ~uggestz th3t inve3tigatio~s 
Nsre begun in Chic.::.gn !md cth~r big northern c:t'.:.ias 
for It bureaucratic" recson;3, '.li i:.hout a:'/arone93 of 
the political problems ~avolvcd. There wero no 
bureaucratic raason~ fo~ ae!acting the3e cities. They 
were the cities against which thare wer3 the most 
substantial complaints of discriminatio:l, ·:md 
considerable righteous lndign3ticn wes building up 
because of tha federal govarfu~ent:8 f~ilura to do 
anything o.bout these aggr<:na ted ;)1 tua tions. In ths 
case of Chicago civil righto groups I conplainta 
~are fUrther strengthened by several official studies 
of di~crinination i~ Chicago achoolao In other words, 
there were p~litical r2ason~ for, as wall as against, 
going ~.nto 'chese .::i ties. The cnforccIn;nt progra:n wea 
not unusad to taking political risks, ~nd did not 
shy away fro.n them uhen there ~v:1.9 a reasonable chance 
of winning. 

Prof. Orficld says that Und~r Sccr3tary Coh2n 
"obtain3d vr;ry little in day··long talks" da;,ligned to 
settle th2 crisis (pag~ 195). In fact Under 
S9cr~ta:!:'y Cohen go:.; aacut. taG :J3.U1.e kind 0:; prcnijss 
of 3c:ion from the city of Chicago th~t tho Offico 
of Education had accept3d from a large portio~ of 
t~a southarn school d.stricts as a ~:siu for lifting 
the deferral of funds. No one preten~3d that ~uch 
promises ~ere the equivalant of dacisiva action, 
and ind~ed hundrsdj of uouthern school dist~ict~, 
like Chic~lg0; failed to en::::::".! out tb3ir p.ro;nis8B I 
thU3 raqui:ing further enf~rcem8nt efforta. 3u=h 
~romi3e~, however, ware judged to b3 all th3t could 
be ~equired for tt3 liftinq of ~und d9~9rr~1, giv3n 
tha lagal tenuousness of the deferral ?rocedure it~elf. 
! t. mu;zt b~ re;;· .. emhe:rad that ti133e daf~.A:raLl, ~"hethGr 
in Chir;ago or in the South, were orc.:;r~d ','11 t:lout tha 
benafit ~f th9 notice and he~rinc oroviaionn th~t 
Title VI ao clearly.=p9l13d out fo·prct3ct local 
di~~rict3 f:orn arbitrary federal action. 

1. hop"3 t:::~t ::hs r:l:1teri:;.l in i:r. O:::fi-.:lld'.:J J.::oo:c, 
plu~ ';:hs additional CC::'...'"';13nt;.;; in thi.::J 12-:."t.2r ·,.;i11 
help to sat the r3~ord 3tr~ight. Gi70n the currant 
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Mr. Joe B. Frantz --6- Haren 20, 1972 

misunderstandings over school busing,  it is just: 
as well t~t at least the facts of the past history 
of thase d.:tf::ict!l t rt' • .J.t{:er3 be corract. 

DSS:fm 

(Former Aosi3tant Co~~i~sione= of ~ducation for 
Equal Educational Opportunities, in charge of 
civil rights enforcement in the Offica of Education 
at tL~a of ~~e Chicago fund withholding). 
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Beverly, Massachusetts 
FebruarY 4, 1972 

The Honorable 
Lyndon B. Johnson 
Johnson City, Texas 

Dear Iifndon: 

The enclosed has just arrived and is 

5 elf"-e:xplanatory. I enclose my repl,y. ifuat harm 

is done by people who speak without thinking! I 

can't rem~nber when something distressed me as 

this ha's. 

I am sending copies of this correspondence 

to Halt Rostow with the request that it be filed in 

the Johnson Library along side of Hr. Keppel's 

interview. 

As ever yours, 

Enclosures 
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Hr. Francia Keppel 
1 East 54th Street 
Hew York, 1;6-~ York 10022 

Dear Mr. Keppel: 

Bevorly, !·~aBsaclmsetts 
Fobruory L, 1972 

Than~c you ror your letter. That you should have it in you 

to apologi~(J marks you as a ::'liJ!l of honor. In mr exporiencs mar;;y men 

si..-np:.ty cannot do it. So, or course, I accept yOlU! apologies - ~11th 

thai1.~. 

To tell you the truth your statement did distress me very much. 

For one thing, during tho whola period from the end ("If 1963 through 1965 

that I ,:::lrl:cd for P:-ssident Johnson I nevol" had the alightei.:-t difficulty 

in getting hi~ attention an.1 thcrei'ore had no carth1.y reason to tfcomplain" 

- let alone to ~ up "IV' tole[7'm!'..a Yith "vulgarities". ! am sure I did 

not make the stllteoents attributed to me tor th9 s1:npla reason that tlq 

could ~..ot haw occurred to lto. I simply could not btlve thought of t.'1em. 

For another thing,. I admire and like President Johnson. He was 

always courteous and considerate to me. Far from. being inaceessible, he 

gave of himself unstintingly. This is another reason why the statements 

in question n~ke no seuse and should be repudiated - whieh you have so 

I:l3ni'n.11;r d:mo. 

U1th bost wishes, 

Vc:;ry sb.csrely yours, 
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THE NEW YORK TIMES 
Sunday, May 21, 1972 
Section 4, page 14 

"Letters to the Editor" 

Lodge Says He Had Johnson's Ear 
To the Editor: 

A dispatch from Austin, Tex., dated 
Jan. 29 and published. in The Times 

: on Jan. 30, quoted Francis Keppel, for-
mer United States Commissioner of 
Education, as saying that I com-
plained, when I was Ambassador to 
Vietnam, that I could not get President 
Johnson's attention and that, in an 
effort to do so, I inserted "vulgari-
ties" into my telegrams. 

Under date of Jan. 31, Mr. Keppel 
wrote to me as follows: . 

This letter is a humble apology 
for an unforgivable mistake. To 
my horror, yesterday's New York 
Times quoted at some length, and 
rather inaccurately, from an oral 
interview I gave for the L.B.J. 

, . Library in Austin. Before doing 
so I thought that the material 
would be used by historians, not 
the press, and that others would 

I 

" 

also be interviewed so that one 
man's memory could be checked. 

My unforgivable mistake was 
to quote my memory of talks we 
had about LBJ at your residence 
in Saigon ••. without permission 
or checking its accuracy. 

It would be improper to ask 
you to forgive me for such a 
stupid and naive mistake. I can 
only hope that you have not been 
troubled and made angry by 

, a humble and apologetic 
Frank Keppel 

Under date of Feb. 4, I said in' 
reply: I 

Th"nk you for your letter. That 
you should have it in you to 
apologize marks you as a man 
of honor. In my experience many 
men simply cannot do it. So, of 
course, I accept your apologies-
with thanks. 

To tell you the truth your state-
ment did distress me very much. 
For one thing. during the whole 
period from the end of 1963 
through 1968 that I worked for 
President Johnson I never had the 
slightest difficulty in getting his 
attention and therefore had no 
earthly reason to "complain"-let 
alone to pep up my telegrams 
with "vulgarities." I am sure I did 
not make the statements attrib-
uted to me for the simple reason 
that they could not have occurred 
to me. I simply could not have 
thought of them. 

For another thing, I admire and 
like President Johnson. He was 
always courteous and con<;iderate 
of me. Far from being inacces-
sible. he gave of himself unstint-
ingly. This is another reason why 
the statements in question make 
no sense and should be repudiated 
-which you have so manfully 
done. 

With best wishes, 
Very sincerely yours, 

Henry Cabot Lodge 
HENRY CABOT LODGE 

Beverly, 1\las5., ~Iay 4, 1972 

The quotations in the news story re-
ferred to by Mr. Keppel were taken ? 
directly from oral histories on file in . ! 
tile Johnson Library. The Editor. . )t} 

-,,, ~ 
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GENERAL SERVICES ADMINISTRATION 
NATIONAL ARCHIVES AND RECORDS SERVICE 

Gift of Personal Statement 

By Francis Keppel 

to the 

Lyndon B~:ines Johnson Library 

In accordance with Sec. 507 of the Federal Property and Adminis-
trative Services Act of 1949, as amended (44 U,S.C. 397) and regulations 
issued thereunder (41 CPR 101-10), I, . 'hGM. CA. So ~ ,y , hereinafter 
referred to as the donor, hereby give,donate, and convey to the United 
States of America for eventual deposit in the proposed Lyndon Baines 
Johnson Library, and for administiation therein by the authorities 
thereof, a tape and transcript of a personal statement approved by me 
and prepared for the purpose of deposit in the Lyndon Baines Johnson. 
Library. The gift of this material is made subject to the following 
terms and conditions: \""",. 

. '" . 1. Title to the material transferred hereunder, and all literary 
property rights, will pass to the United States as of the date of the 
delivery of this material into the physical custody of the Archivist 
of the United States. 

2. It is the clonorrs wish to make the material donated to the 
United States of America by terms of this instrument available for 
research as soon as it has been deposited in the Lyndon Baines Johnson 
Library. 

3. A revision of this stipulation governing access to the material 
for research may be entered into between the donor and the Archivist of 
the United States, or his deSignee, if it appears desirable. 

- ---.-------- -
4. The material donated to the United States pursuant to the fore-

going shall be kept intact permanently in the Lyndon Baines Johnson 
Library. 

Signed 

Date 

Date \J.~.. . ~,') (1 7.:L --, ) 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh


	keppel_francis_1969_0421.pdf



